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Financlal Servies
Commluion
of Ontario

Commisslon des
servlces financlers
de IOntarlo

Ontario

FSCO A14 002444

BEOEEN

ANTHONY COWDREY

Applicant

and

MOTOR VEHICLE ACCIDENT CLAIMS FUND

Insurer

REASONS FOR DECISION

Before

Heard

Appearances

Alan Mervin

Decelnber 7 8 9 10 1 1 2015 and February 3 2016

Joseph Calnpisi Jr for Mr Cowdrey
Robert Kerkmann for Motor Vehicle Accident Claims Fujld

The Applicant Mr Anthony Cowdrey was injured in a motor vehicle accident on Septenzber 15

2013 He applied for and received statutory accident benefits from the Motor Vehicle Accident

Claims Fund C the Fundf payable under the Schedule Lispvbes arose regarding

Mr Cowdreys claims for attendant care and other benefits and the parties were unable to

resolve their disputes through mediation

Mr Cowdrey then applied for arbitration at the Filaancial Services Commissioll of Ontario under

the lnsurance Act R S O 1990 c l 8 as amended

1
F le Stauttory Accident Benehts c Ie l e Effctive Septetnber 1 2010 Ontario RegulatitAn 34 1 0 as

amended
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lssues

The issues in this arbitration as stated in the pre hearilag report are as follows

ls Mr Cowdrey entitled to attendant care benefits at the rate of 6 000 00 per month from the

date of loss to date and ongoing Iess alnounts paid

ln closing submissions Mr Cowdrey re stated the issues in tlzis arbitration as follows

1 What Icvel of attendant care is reasonable and lleccssary to ensure Mr Cowdreys safetyg

2 Is Ms Kralnm entitled to 54 7 l 7 G payment for attelldant carc services provided to

Mr Cowdrey between March 15 2014 and June 20152

Is Ms Partyka entitled to 13 797 payment for attendant care services provided to

Mr Cowdrey Otwecn April 2015 and September 2015

The Fund also has raised the following sub issue in its writtell submissions

1 Ds s 19 3 4 of the Schedule which was in force on February 1 2014 apply to the

deterlninationof Mr Cowdreys entitlelnent t attendant carc benefits in resNct of attendant

i ided after February l 20 14 2care serv ces prov

Result

Mr Cowdrey requires 24 hour attendant care services in order to ensure his safety

2 Mr Cowdrey is entitled to up to 6 0 00 pcr month for incurred attendant care

zWritten Submissitlns of the Respondent Regarding Ontario Regulatityn 347 1 3 and the February l 2014

amendment to the Altendant Care Benet January 8 2015

2
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3 Ms Kramm is entitled to paymcnt for attelldant carc services provided between March 15s

2014 and June 2015 in the alnount of 41 025 50

4 Ms Partyka is entitled to paylnent of 13 797 00 plus interest for attendant care services

provided to Mr Cowdrey bctween April 20 15 and September 2015

5 Mr Cowdreys clailn for attcndant care did not vest at the time of the accident

6 Section 1943 4 of the Sthedule which was in force on Fcbruary 1 2014 applies to the

determination of Mr Cowdreys entitlelnent to attendant care benefits in respect of attendant

care services provided after Febnlary 1 2014

Mr Cowdrey is entitled to his expenses

Background

Mr Antllony Cowdrey was involved in a serious singlc vellicle motorcycle accident on

September 1 5 2013 at approximately I 2 38 a m He was riding alone on St Johlls Rd in

Innisfil when he stmck a pothole and was thrown offhis motorcycle He lost controls and hit a

sign pole He was 34 years of age at the time of the accident and had one son Tyler age 3 who

resided with his former partner Szylvia Kralnm Ms Kramm was elnployed as a full tilne

registered pediatric nurse at Mount Sinai Hospital

As a result of the accident Mr Cowdrey suffered lnultiple in juries solne f which were life

threatening including fractures of his skull face and Jaw damage to his eyes colltusions

lacerations and abrasions soft tissue in juries and broken libs and bones

First responders at the scene found him to be non verbal and covered witll blood His Glasgow

Coma Score was noted as 7 15 His helnaet was fotlnd on the ground solne distance away and

was found to contain brain tissue
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He was initiallytaken by ambulance to Royal Victoria Hospital in Barrie then ilnmobilized and

airlifted by ORNGE air alnbtllance to Sullnybrook Hospital in Toronto At Sunnybrooks his

Glasgow Coma Score was noted as 8 l 5

Hc was put into a medically induced coma for two weeks until October 1 2013 and while in

hospital he tlnderwent several surgical procedures to repair his injuries He has no lnemory of

the accident

He relnained in hospital for an additiollal 2 weeks after he legained collsciousness and was then

discllarged to the llome and care of Sylvia Kramln on October l 6 2013

At the tilnc of the accident Mr Cowdrey and Ms Kramln had ended their relationship and had

been separated for about a ycar Although they were no longer living together as a couplc they

remained friends and shared parenting of their son

Ms Kramm became his primary caregiver upon his discharge and he resided with her until July

2014 when he moved to his own residellce The Fund had accepted albeit on a provisilal basis

that Mr Cowdrey was catastrophically ilnpaired and paid Attendant Care services froln October

16 2013 at the lnaximuln rate of 6 000 montllly The Fund lelied on a Form 1 sublnitted by

Ms Katie Denby Mr Cowdrcys Occupatiolzal Therapist OT until March 2014 when the

Fund stopped payments Ms Dellbys Forlu l and report opined that Mr Cowdrey required

24 hour attendant care because of his nulnerotls ilnpairments primarily for safety reasons

Ms Kramm contintted to provide attendant care services without lemuneration and renaained his

primary caregiver until July 2014 when Ms Telry Partyka a qualified Personal Services Worker

PSW was hired From July 2014 to March 2015 Ms Kramln and Ms Pallyka shared attelzdant

care duties

In March 2015 Mr Cowdrey was assessed at the request of the Fund by Angela Flelning OT

Ms Flelning assessed the quantum of Attcndant Care requircd at 854 79 monthly and thc Fund

relied on her Form 1 Ms Fleming opincd that Mr Cowdrey did not require 24 hour Attendant

4
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Care as aids such as a shaker bed alarln and cueing could ensure Mr Cowdreys safety at night
H r Fonn 1 allotted 60 25 llours for Level 2 Attendant Caree

On Marcll 15 20l 4 the Fund stopped paymellts to Ms Kralnln following new amcndments to

section 3 7 of the Sclledule which came into fbrce on February 1 20 l 4 and added additiollal

entitlement requirements The Fund took the positioll that she was not eligible for payment under

the alnended section as she did not qualify as a professional attendant and had not provided

proof that she sustained an economic loss at lcast equal to invoiced alnounts as would be

4required from a non professional service provider

Ms Terry Partyka a Personal Serviccs Worker was hired to provide attelldant care selvices to

Mr Cowdrcy on an ongoing basis and from July 20 2014 to March 2015 Ms Partyka and Ms

Kramm shared attendallt care selvices

Although the Fund accepted from tho outset that Ms Partyka met the critelia in s 3 7Xe iii A 5

the Fund stopped al1 further payments to Ms Palyka from April 15 2015 onwards when the

Fund discovered that Ms Partyka had invoiced for several days on which she did not provide

service Going forward the Fund dotlbted tlle veracityof alI of her invoices The alnounts if any

that may be owillg to Ms Kralnln and or Ms Partyka are therefore in dispute as well as the rate

at which the services are paid going forward

3Fl rm l and Assessment of Attendant Care Needs by Angela Flenling OT dated March 24 20 I5 Joint

Medical Brief volume II Exhibit 4 7 ab 26

Yee discussion regarding Section 3 7 e iii which created two classes of attendants wit diftkfent

requirements for entitlement

sFund Written Submissions Page 5 Paragrapll 15

5
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THE LAW

Admissibility of Surveillance

ne Fund had obtained surveillance prior to the hearing regarding Ms Palyka and sought to

introduce the surveillance into evidencc The surveillallce evidence consisted of video

surveillancc and accompanyillg doculnents

The Applicallt objKted to its adlnissibility as the evidence was servedjust over a week befole

the hearilzg only a few days prior to the hearing and well within thc 30 day rule as set out in

s 40 of the Dispute e 5r Iflitpl1 Practle CW e the 6Code

Mile an arbitrator has a discretioll to waive this time lilnit if there are cogent leasons to depart

from the Rule after hearing submissions from both partiess the Fund did not advallce any reasons

for the delay in servicc that migllt convince me to waive the 30 day requirement l found the

surveillance evidence to be inadmissiblc

Entitlement to Attendant Care

Prior to coming into force of the new Sclledule on Septelnber 1 2010 thc test for elltitlement to

attendant care was whether the claim was reasonable and necessary

Section 19 1 of the Sclledule stated that an illsurer sllall pay an attendallt carc benefit for all

reasonable and necessary expenses incun ed by or on behalf of an insured person as a lesult of

the accident for services provided by an aide or attendant

Section 19 2 of the Sclzedulc states that the monthly amount payable for non catastrophic

injuries shall be detennined in accordance with a colnpleted Fol m 1 etAssessment of Attcndant

Care Needs

GDispute e wz wl Prztcdce Code section 40

6
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Section 19 of the Sclledule added tlle additional requirement that thc expelAse must also be

incun ed in accordance with the definitioll provided under paragraph 3 7 e

The amount of the benefit payable under the Sclledule is capped at 3 000 per montll up to 104

weeks post accident in non catastrophic cases Where the Applicant is found to have sustained a

catastrophic impairment the limit is 6 0 00 monthly up to 1 000 X 0 00 and the 104 week

i Iimit does not applyt lne

EVIDENCE AND ANALYSIS

Tbe Effect of Ontario Regulation 347 13 February 1 2014 on Attendant Care
Claims

The Scltedule was alnended effective February 1 2014 Prior to the alnendment a non

professional scrvice provider could successfully claim a1I costs of the Krvices which wel e

provided as long as the service provider could show that any economic loss no matter the

amount was sustained

The amendment limited recovery for services provided by non professional service providers to

the amount of the ccollomic loss he service provider sustaills as a result of providing the

scrvices

B hich was decided prior to the amendlnent theIn Henn v Gore Mutual Insurance Compall v w

Applicants mother was the servicc provider and the issue was whether shc was required to

show ecollolnic loss equivalent to the amount invoiced for services

7s 2 of the Scltedltle

Resllndent Book of Authoritiesa Tab I 9 120 I 2 I O J No 2928

7
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The Court found tllat proof of any ecollomic loss was a thrcshold lequirelnent only and was

sufficient to trigger entitlement to the benefit The Ontario Court of Appealg affsrmed the

decisiolx reasoning that llad thc legislature intellded to limit the amount of the bellefit to the

alnountof the cconomic loss it would have done so

ln December 2013 perhaps at least partly because of the decision in Henry the government

brought forward Ontario Regulation 347 13 O Reg 347 13 which came into force on Fcbruary
1 2014 limiting the amount of economic loss of noll professional servi providers such as

friellds or family to the amount of economic loss sustained by the service provider

The Stottntart qDecf6 W l
10 regarding the passage of Regulation 347 1 3 cited by the Fund statcs

that the alnendments will help reduce costs and ullcertainty in the systcm by continuilzg to crack

d buse and fraud l l
owll on a

Did Mr Cowdrey acjuire a vested right to Attendant Care Benefits prior to the
enactment of Ontarlo Regulation 347 14 on February 1 20147

Mr Cowdrey has argued that the claim for attclldant care had vested at the time of the accident

The accident was prior to the amendmcnt and the amendment tllerefore would not apply when

determining entitlenlent to attendant care benefits in his case

In support of his position Mr Cowdrcy relies on the decision i11 Federico State Farln Mutual

Inburance CfJz 1 J y
l 2 which held that an accident benefits clailn becolnes sufciently concleteK

for a substantive right to materialize on the datc of thc accidcnt ln that case Directors Dclcgate

Blacklnan held that the provision in the new Sclkedule effectivc Scptember 1 2010 which

9120 l 31 O J No 3792

oAmendments to the Statutory Accidents Benefits Schedule Ontaril Regulation 34 10 Resptlndents Book of

Authttrities Tab 5

l Fund Written Submissionss Page 7 Paragraph 6

IZIFSCO 08 l l 38 March 23 2 1 2 tlpheld on appeal FSCO PI 2 0 X 22 March 25 2 l3 application for
judicial review dismissed 2014 236 A C W S 3d 202 2 14 ONSC 109 tDiv Ct

8
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reduced entitlelnent to interest on overduc bcnefits did not apply to the insured as the insured

had acquired a vested right

Mr Cowdrey further submits that this proposition llas been cited in at least two otller reported

cases citing the decisions in 7zlya v State Fa w Mutual Alz tratph e Iltsurce Ctp 1 a ly
l 3 and

Kulaverccrasiltganlp gate F rl l Mutual A z r iz tl t Iltsurce Ckpzzlpcay 14

The Fund argues that the amendmcjlt applies to Mr Cowdreys case

ln its written submissioll the Fund stated that the circumstances that entitled him to an attendant

care benefit after February 1 2014 were not sufficicntlyconstituted concrete or materialized

prior to the amendment There were substantial collditions to be lnet before he could establisll a

valid clailn to attendant care benefits after February 1 2014 he lnust be alive have ongoing

ilnpainnent llave a need receive services and incur an expense
ls

The Fund argues that nd for attelldant care is collstantly changing and varies dependillg on the

circulnstallces of thc Applicant at the tinle of the asscssment Entitlement to a benefit for any

period ot time is therefore dependent on thcse conditions being lnet

The Fund has submitted that Mr Cowdreys claim to the attendant cal e benefit had not yet

crystallized at the time of the accident nor had it clystallized when he lnade his attelldant care

claim which was after the amendment came into force

Should l find that Mr Cowdrey had somehow acquired a vested right to attendant care prior to

the alncndlncnts tlle Fund sublnits that its secondary position is tllat the right was displaced as it

IIFSCO A l 2 5753 November 28 20 I 4

INFSCO Al 2 X34423 February 2 2015

lswritten Submissions of the Respllndent Regarding Ontario Regulatitln 347 l 3 and the February I 2 14
amendment to the Aqendant Care Benefit January 8 201 5 Page I 2 Paragraph 3 l

9
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is apparent from aIl the circumstances that the Icgislature intended the new legislatioll to be

applied retroactively

The issue of when an intcrest or expectation achieves the status of a vested or accrued right was

ddressed by thc Suprelne Court of Canada in Dikrtian v Quebec A lfyrney Gellerall6 whicha

quoted froln the analysis found in The Ittterpretatitm tl zpd llf la 1 Canada Pierre Alulre

its Judgelnent 17Ctt in

fct maintains that an individual lnust meet two criteria to have a vested right
1 the individual legal Ijuridicall situation must be talzgible and concrete rather

than general and abstract and 2 tllis legal situation must have been sufficiently
constituted at the time of the new statutes commencement

The Court agreed with the Ct analysis that this analysis is the col rect test to determine if alld

when a right has vested

In the very rKent appeal of Motor Vellicle Ace c 1 Claim Flza and rz e6I8 decided post

hearing and which the parties llave reccntly asked me to consider the issue of whcn a right vests

was discussed at length by Directors Delegate Rogers

ln that decision the Directors Delegate disagreed with the dKision of the Arbitrator who found

that the claimant had acquired a vested right based on a concession by the Fund that tlle

amendment affected Ms Barnes substantive right to attendant care benefils Based on this

concessioll the Arbitrator thcn ruled that the amendlnent did not apply and ruled that

Ms Barnes had acquired a vested right

tDikrattian Qttebec Attontey tEpeaerzz f 2t 051 3 S C R 530 for a discussion as to wben rights vest

17420 1 l 4tb Ct p l 60

IF FSCO Pl 6 x 87 April 6 20I 7

1 0
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In his decision hc stated that the issue of the applicabilityof amendmcnts to earlier accidents is

not new He commented that in Barlles the arbitrator in lnaking her detcrmilAation refenvd to the

rules regarding temporal applicatioll of legislation as established by the Suprelne Court in R v

19 Those nlles are as followsDiltley

i Cases in which legislation has retrospcctive effect lnust be exceptional

ii mlere legislative provisionsaffect eitller vested or substantive rights retrospectivityhas

been found to be undesilable

iiilNew legislation that affects substantivc rigllts will be prcsulned to have only prospective

effect tlnless it is possible to discern a clear legislative intent that it is to apply

retros tively

ivlNew proccdural lcgislation desiglled to govern only the manner in which rights are assclled

or enforced does not affect the substance of thoso rights and is presulned to apply

immediately to both pending and futtlre cases

v The key task in detel mining tlze issue Iies not in Iabelling thc provision i

pl ocxdural or

substantive but in discerning whether thcy affcct substantive rights and

vilThe fact tllat new legislation has an effect on the contellt or cxistclxce f a rigllt is a1

indication that substantive lights are affected

In SzJr ze s the Fund conceded that the amelldlnent affected Ms Bames substantive right to

attendant care belxefits The Arbitrator ruled that based upon tllat concession alone the

alnelldlnent could not apply to Ms Banles so she did Ilot have to also show that she llad a vested

right to the benets in dispute

1912 l 2 3 S C R 272

11
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The Arbitrator lelied on the second rule above where the Court states that retrospcctivity is

ulldesirable whele provisiolzs affcct eitller vested r substantive l ights and referred to Iicderico

and State F r zl Mutual Alz tvalzl p e Illsltrance Ctpa raay supras in which Delegate Blacklnall

held that the provisioll in the new Szhedule whicll reduced entitlement to interest on overdue

benefits from 2 to 1 did not apply to the insured person He found that the insured person

had acquiled a vested right to the higller interest ratc He agrecd with the Arbitrator who also

relied on the decision of the Superior Court in D6lvl 7 ler Litlkation Gl Jr z Lush v

W wzpacsw Mutual fllsl rclltie Ct lptlny2t whieh held that thc amendlnent at issue in that case did

not apply to accidcnts that occun ed before February 1 20 l4

Delcgate Rogers disagreed He stated that

the logic of other appeal decisiolls that contlict
with Federico and confinn the ability of the Legislature to changc illsurance
policies from time to time ullder s 2684 1 of the ImuraltceAc The Albitrator

distillguishedthe othel decisions on the groullds that the accidents in those cases

occurred after the alnendments She noted that the language of s 26841 is very
general and she prefcrred Federico bccause thc Dclegates decisioll was upheld
on appeal to the Divisional Court

the Arbitrator declined to follow

l prefer Delegate Rogers analysis and agree as he noted that the l ztgislature has the ability to

change illsurance policies from time to time Howevel whether the accidellt xcurred after the

amendlncnts or not should not make a differellce if it is found that the rigllt to the benefit has

vested in the insured

I do not agree with the Applicants sublnission that the clailn for attendallt carc belxfits had

vested at the tinae of the accident despite a finding to the colltrary in Iqederico which can be

distinguished on its facts I find that the claim did not vest at the tilne of the accident and is

therefore subject to thc rcquirelnellts of the February 1 2014 amcndlncnts for the followillg

reasons

202015 oNsc 6624

12
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The claim had not crystallized stlfficiently at thc time of the accident for it to have vested

At that time it would be virtually impossible to deterlnine if attelldant carc would be requircd

aftel hospital rclease because the severityof the illjurics tlle degree and pace of lecovery

and otlzer factors are constantly changing and cannot be determilled with any degree of

certainty at the timc of the accidcnt

2 Although the Applicant has cited several cases supra whele it has bcen found that the light

to a particular benefit had vestcd at the tilne of thc accident ie Federico 5a rf those cases

can be distingtlislzed on their facts

3 The new regulation colltained no tl allsitional provisiolls in situatiolls such as this wllere an

accident occurred prior to tllc amendment but the claim is Inade fter the amendment comes

into force These type of situations could have been anticipated and exceptiolls could havc

been set out in the new sectiolls had thc govemlnent intended that the amendlnellts did not

apply to certain situations However tlle Iegislation was silellt in this legard

4 Although it has becn said that the government does not intend to interfere with vested rights

if that was the case the legislation would have spoken to exceptions in the regulation Thc

legislation was silent in this regard The regulatioll on a plain reading was intcndcd to apply

to a1l claims after February 1 2014

I therefol e find that Mr Cowdreys right to attclldant cale had not vested at thc timc of the

accident and as of February 1 2014 his clailn fbr attendant care bencfits is subject to tlle new

alnelldmcnts going forward

ls the Fund an Sflnsurer

The Fund argtled altematively that Section 19 of the v chedule lefers to paylnents to an illsured

person and therefore as tlle Fund is a statutory creation there is no contractual relationship

entered into between the parties There is no policy of insurance between the partics defining the

13
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rights and conditiolzs of the respective parties as the rights to bellcfits are created and

specifically defined in the statute

In many other sections of the Schedtle the use of the words tinsurer and tinsured are used as

prealnbles to thc requilements of the section

Clearly the Iegislature created the Fund so as to be available to those unlucky enough to be

involved in accidents where there was no instlrance company against which to advance a clailn

for accidellt bcllcfits

Accident benefit legislation has often been described as beillg consumeroriellted Should the

Fund not stand in the place of an insurance colnpany it would be most unfair to accident victilns

who required treatmellt and in 1ny view would defeat the purpose of thc Fund

The Applicant has submitted that the Fund stands in place of an Insurcr and 1 agree An in jtlred

person is elAtitled to the benefits as dened in the statute as al1 iinsured despite the absence of

an insurance policy

Does Ms Kramm meet the entitlement requirements of section s3 7 e iii A or

B to be pald for her servicesaler March 2014

Mr Cowdrey argues that the trainillg and duties of a full tilne Registered Nurse togethcr with

her past experiellce as a homc care nurse ellcolnpasses alld exceeds all of the dutics of a PSW

In its written submissions the Applicant stated that among othcr things she was qualified to

maintain a prosthesis shave another person trim fingemails and toellails provide assistance with

in and assist with walking and generally perfol ming patient carezl and did not havc to provecat g

that she sustained an economic loss

2ISee Applicants written subnlission Page 25 at Paragtaph 89 Iisting aIl f Ms Kramnls qualificatitns and

duties as an R N and again at paragraph 105 duties as home care nursc
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The Fund submitted that Iler work at Mount Sinai Hospital did not lneet the test for entitlclnent

to payment as a professional service provider The Fujld argues that although she was a

registered nurse at thc time of the accidcnt as a pediatric ntlrse she was not a person who

provided the services i11 the course of the employmellt occupation or profession in which he or

she would ordinarily have been engaged

Mle Ftlnd further submits tllat had Ms Kramjn provided nursing services to Mr Cowdrey at the

hospital or alternatively if she hcld a second job outside the hospital that illvolved providing
attendant care services ilzlmediately prior to the accident she would thcn be eligible as a

professiolaal service provider

The Fund submitted that she would therefole fall into the non profcssional service provider

category According to the Fund she was a falnily member and would therefore be required to

prove she sustained an econolnic loss as required by Scction 3 7 eXiii B

The cases cited in support of the Funds position are in my vicw distillguishable on the facts

The Fund citcd the decision in Josey J Printntum Illsuralcc Colnpalty zl i11 support of its

position In that case tlze services were provided by the Applicallts spouse who was a stay at

home full time unpaid caregiver to their three children prior to thc aident Arbitrator Fadel

found that this did not amotlnt to elnploymellt occupation or profession becatlse she was not

relntlnerated for her serviccs

ln Sllawnoo v Certas Direct pl l rtwlce Ctmtplyl care was provided by tlle Applicallts

lnother who although a trained PSW was not working outside the Ilome for l elnuneration as a

PSW or healtll care aide prior to the accident The Coult found that because of this she Inust be

excluded from receiving benefits undel thc Scltcdttle as she did not sllow tllat she had stlstained

al economic loss

2 FsCO A l 3 5768 October 3 I 2 l4

2312 I41 O J 62 1 3
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2014 because of health issues Shc was found not to be a profcssional service providel ordinalily

engaged in llcr occupation but for the accident and thc Arbitrator found that she would have

provided care in any evcnt had she not been paid Tllis case in my view is distinguisllable as

Ms Kramm and Mr Cowdrey had not bccn in a spousal relationship for some 2 years prior to

the accident and they would have not been Iiving togethcr but for the accident

In my view Ms Kralnlns training experience and duties as a Registered Nurse qualify her as a

professional servicc provider as set out in the alnellded section 3 7 e iii and l find that

Ms Kramm is tllerefore not required to prove an ecollolnic loss in order to receive payment for

her services

I tllerefore find it umlecessary to determine whether Ms Kramlu has sustailled an econolnical

loss

EVIDENCE

For Mr Cowdrey

Mr Anthony Cowdrcy testified at the lzearing He had no rccall of the accident remembering

only that he was riding a motorcycle and waking up in hospital unable to see or speak He said

he was in Ilospital for about a month

He described himsclf as a happy go ltlcky sociable upbeat person who eljoycd going to clubs

playing poker going to ball games and spending time with his son before tlle accidellt For 5

years prior to the accident he worked seasollally for a window and eavestlougll company

He had been in a rolnantic relationship witll Szylvia Kramm who l1e Izad lnet in 2006 but their

romantic relationshiphad ended 2 years prior to the accident and thcy no longer lesided

together Thcy had a son Tyler who was five years old at the time of the hearillg

17



MAYm1 D17 03 45 rM Fr 416 590 8462 Pa 20 47

COWDREY and MVACF
FSCO A14 002444

Mr Cowdrey was living in a bascmcnt apartmcnt at the tilne of the accident He spent Friday

evenings and weekends with his son ln the off season Mr Cowdrey would spend more time

with him

He was discharged from hospital a montll after the accident and moved in with Ms Kralnm

because as she was a nurse she thought it would be bcst for his care and for his son that he

reside with her during his recovery

cn asked about his in juries he described theln as follows lshattered face first two ribs

broken broken left scapula lost left eye and nillc cl acked teeth

He testied tllatv in the months following the accident he was tta mess scared and conftlsed and

in rougll shape and after his release required Izelp i11 alI areas of personal care as he didnt

know ttwhat or where or how to do thillgs He stayed with Ms Kralnln for over a year but l1e

said that she was tlpset with his behaviour and couldnt do it anymore as he sometimes becalne

aggressive toward her so she left until Ize found an apartment She also could not afford to spend

the time with hiln as she was not gettillg paid and had to find supplemcntary work

He testified that he still requires help with his care especially with removal and cleaning of his

prosthetic eye but because of no fulzding wllile he said he could use daily care he only gets help

from timc to time froln Ms Partyka mld Ms Kralnln when they had tilne for him Alonc in the

apartlnent he said he just ttsits there and has weird thoughts He said he doesn t want to go out at

llight and doesnt want to go out in bad weatller as hc fears it is dangerous for him becatlsc of

his visual issues related to glarc and Iack of depth perception He has lost his sense of slnell and

requires help with tasting food He testified that the doctor told him he will never be able to drive

again

He describcd his persollality currently as very rescrved He said he fclt insecure and was

depressed a lot of the tilne Hc did not want to do lnuch or talk to llis oId friends Hc developcd

unhealthy ways to cope witla his depressed lnood such as going to the casino and splurging He

said he Iost 40 000 0 ofhis work savings and he used dl ugs to cope
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Because of his loss of smell and taste he fcarcd that he might eat solnething that had gone bad

and becolne ill

He was a deep sleeper He testified that his lnother had told Ililn that he had slept through a fire

alarm nearby He was afraid that should there be a gas leak or a carbon monoxide issue he

would not be able to detect the threat He said he has left the stove on several times and only

became aware of the danger upon entering the kitcllen and feeling the heat

On colnlnunity outings such as a trip to the store or to a mall hc said he was anxious nervous

and claustroplbic often bumping into people llewspaper boxes and tripping on objKts or

children that he could see because of what he described as tttunnel vision

l found Mr Cowdreys testilnony believable esNcially with rcsNct to his feals and exposurc to

danger His testimony regarding al1 of the issues he expelienced in his day to day life illcluding

personal care and safety issues both inside and outside of the home were consistellt witll his

injuries and the findings of his assessors who opined that I e is in nd of full time care botll

from a physical and emotional perspective en alone he lacks initiative and objects tllat one

would find in any homc such as cupboards funliture or itelns left on tlle floor present safety

issues to Mr Cowdrey He has an ongoillg need for assistallce with personal care and llis

ijlability to drive would require him to vcnture out using public transport to attcnd at lnedical and

other appointments More ilnportantly because of the permanent llature of his ilnpairlncllts

particularly with respect to his vision issues this is not Iikely to changc His need for care is

ongoing

Katie Denby

Ms Katie Denby is a registeled Occupational Therapist and was Mr Cowdreys treating

Occupational Therapist since shodly after tbe accidellt She first lnet with him at Sunnybrook

Health and Sciellces Centre on October 1 5 20 l 3 to obtain llis consent r the assesslnent and

after his discharge on October 16 2013 Inet with hiln again at his home with his parents and

Ms Kramm in attendance for the assesslnent
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She had sccn him on many occasions and llad an opportunity to obscrvc llis Ievel of functionillg
both wllile in hospital and in the colnjnunity

Her initial Assessment of Attendant Care Needs and Form 1 25 dated Novembel 5 20 l 3

recommended 24 hour attendant care for a total of 7 928 89 monthly with the lnaiority of hours

640 95 hours allotted to I evel 2 attendant care basic supervisory needs She opined that two

safety reasons he could not be left alone esrcially at llight It was her opinion that should an

emergency situation arise because of the cumulative effects of his physical and psychological

deficits and ilnpairments she believed that hc would be at risk alld wotlld be unable to assess the

situation or if he did assess the situation he would not be able to respond appropriately

ln her second Form 1 and assesslnent dated Decelnber 31 2014 26 Ms Denby comlnented that

he was at risk for environmental dangers and had begun to show serious neuropsychological

sylnptoms illcluding acts of physical aggressioll property damage and illability to relax and feel

safe Her report lloted that he suffered fatigue required naps during the day and on olle

occasion he did not wake up wllen a fire alarln sounded nearby Apparently altllough there had

not been a fire in his ullit or on his floor I1e has slept througll alarlns and sirens whicll sounded

on at least two occasiolls

She also opined that hc was suffering froln apathy syndrome and adlninistered the Rivermead

P t Concussion Symptoms Questionnaire
z

os

The test results demollstrated that Mr Cowdrey suffered froln noise sellsitivity the most severe

probleln and less sevcrc problems including but not limited to headaches in itability

25J int Medical Briefp Volume l Exhibit 4 Tab 2

Mloint Medical Brief Volume l Exllibit 4 Tab 7

27The Rivermead is a test administered t persons who have sustained a concussitln tnr brain in jury tf mensure

severity ofsymptoms
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frustration and anger slowed thought plocesses and light sellsitivity Hcr report indicatcd that

Mr Cowdrey told her that he felt ij1 a collstant state of danger z

Ms Denby also prepared a rebuttal repol t dated May 20s 20 I 5 29
to Angela Flelnings Form l

and report dated March 30 2015 wllich opined tllat 24 hour attendant carc was not llecessary

Ms Fleming lecommcnded a much lowcr anlount of attendallt care In her rebuttal Ms Denby
disagreed witll Ms Flelning maintailling that 24 hour care was llecessary for Mr Cowdrcy and

it was her opinion that Ms Flelzzings assessmellt and report did not adequately address

Mr Cowdreys emotional function as it impacted his perforlnancc of activities of daily living

Ms Denby had observed Mr Cowdrey over a Iong period of tilne in different elvirolzlnents

whereas Ms Fleming had only met with Mr Cowdrey for a few hotlrs at his home for her

assessment

Coudney Poder

Ms Cotlrtney Porter is a registered Occttpational Therapist who served as Mr Cowdrcys Casc

Mallager since December 2013 with the exccptioll of a matemity Ieave taken between August

20 l 4 and February 2015 when she was telnporarily replaced by Heather Lyonss OT

Ms Porter testified at the hearing and submitted a Folm l and Asscsslnellt of Attendallt Care

Needs in Novelnber 2015 30 for which she stated tllat she had reviewed Ms Denbys earlier

rcport in her prcparation in addition to nulnerous lnedical records whicll were Iisted in hcr

report

Msee footnote 25 supra

zgoccupational Therapy Rebuttal to lndeandent Medical Examinatitln Assessmcnt of Attendant Care of Katie

EYnby Occupational Therapist from J Fisher and Asslxiates dated May 20 20l sloint Medical Brief Volume l

Tab 8

Oupdated Attendant Care Assessnzent Report of Courtney Ptlrter dated Novemlxr 2 20 l 5 Jtbint Medical Brief

Volume 1 Tab l5 Exhibit 4
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She testified that she had consulted witl Ms Dcnby and Mr Peter Glazer Mr Cowdreys

rehabilitatioll worker who had been secing Mr Cowdrey on a weekly basis and forwarded

progrcss reports to the tean She said tllat they had obselwed that Mr Cowdrey had experienced

difficulty in some environments He would bulup into people and objccts because of his visioll

difficulties Mr Glazer had described specific incidellts of Mr Cowdrey bulnping into people at

malls Ms Porter testificd that Mr Glazer had told her that on one occasion Mr Cowdrey had

attempted to Iean against a post but misjudged the distallce and almost fell

Shc also spoke to Dr Hiten Lad a neuropsychologistwho had assessed Mr Cowdrey in order to

clarify solne itcms in his neuropsychological report

She had spent considerable tilne with Mr Cowdrey She stated that in the two weeks prior to the

hearing she met with Dr Unarket at Mr Cowdreygs apartment and prior to her naatemity Ieave

she had walked significallt distanccs witll hiln in the colnlnulzity as well as walking with hiln

both inside and outside the hospital

Her consultations with Mr Glazer and Ms Denby confirmed that Mr Cowdrey had ongoing

problems when out in busy environmcnts I4e had difficulty in bcing careful and constalltly

scanning his ellvironment which is vital for people with vision in one eye He had difficulties in

navigating judging depth perception and he worried about walking in the community alone

She testified that Dr lmd had opincd that Mr Cowdrey had no efficient sponetatleous planlling

ability and tllerefore if he had to plan a day such as an outing with his son he would not be

able to work out ideas tilning or cope with any roadblocks that lnight ullexpectedly arise

She also stated that Mr Cowdrey doesnt always report these illcidents

After Mr Cowdreys relationship with Ms Kralnm ended she said that Mr Cowdrey llad

dcveloped levels of depressive sylnptomology which she described as most sevele in July 2014

and that he had developed coping lnechanisms of gamblillg and drug use As a rcsult ofhis

depressed mood Mr Cowdrey was at high risk of social isolation He lleeded extelmal

lnotivation in order to get him to leave his apartment and attelnpt to socialize
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Her consultation with Dr Imd confirmed her opinion that if Mr Cowdrey is tasked with having
to create a plan without any stnlcture l1e will not be able to do so properly nor handle any

unexpected obstacles

She testified that in her experiences people with head injuries suffer greater mental fatigue

Taken together with his physical limitations his mental fatigue hilAdered his ability to walk

longer distances

Ms Porters Form 1 assessed Mr Cowdreys attelldant care needs at 8 620 lnonthly well

over the statutory maximum of 6 000 00 mollthly

Witll respect to Ms Flelnings suggestioll tllat the Canadian National lllstitute for the Blind was

a11 option to take over Mr Cowdreys case lnalaagement she stated that Mr Cowdrey had sought

assistance froln the CNIB and had in fact becn visited at his apartlnent by Mr Tilnothy Chullg

of CNIB Mr Chung advised that the CNIB could not be a specialist in his case because Mr

Cowdrey suffered Inultiplc impairments such as his dcpressive symptomology apatlly fatigtle

and cogllitive fluctuations wllich the CNIB could not address

She testied that in reaclling the collclusion that Mr Cowdrey required 24 hour attendalzt care

Mr Cowdreys numerous limitations make it difficult for him to scan and gather the information

that he needs in order to deal with his ellvironlnent She was lnainly concen4ed that his

monoctllar vision and limited scanning abilities colnpounded by llis Iack of sense of smcllv cotlld

put llim in dangers and noted that he had slept througl a fire alalnn She collcluded tllat cueing

stlategies were illsufficient as Mr Cowdrey lacks the ability to be self sufficicllt i11 case of

emergency and requires an attendant at times to ensure safety

l found hcr evidence to be of key impol4ance in that her conclusiolls wcre reached over a

considerable period of time and she recogllizcd that both physical and Inental elnotiollal

ilnpairments both contributed to Mr Cowdrcys reduced abilities 1 prefer her opinion over that

ofMs Flelning
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Dr Milan Unarket

Dr Milan Unarkct is a physiatrist specializillg in physical medicine and lehabilitation whose

C V states that his clinical wolk involves tthc assesslncnt and tleatmcnt of patiellts with varitlus

1 ical m d Inusculoskeletal injuries 3l I4e has followed Mr Cowdrey for isstles relatingneuro og

Mr Cowdreys traumatic brain illjtlry

His reports were submitted in evidence and I1e testified at the llearing aftel being qualified as an

cxpert in the assessmcnt and care of patients with traulnatic brain in jurics He assessed

Mr Cowdrcy on 2 occasions 111 his initial report datcd September 30 20 1 5 he colnmented on

Mr Cowdrcys physical ilnpairmcnts and also noted that there was evidence of cognitive and

i 1 seqtlalae related to his braill injury including 1ow lnood and dccreased frustration zenlot ona

In his report dated Novelnber 6 20l 5 he was asked to colnment on thc level of attendallt care

Mr Cowdrey required After listing Mr Cowdreys ilnpainments including Ilis elnotional

dysfunction apathy and Iow vision it was Dr Ulparkets medical opillion that Mr Cowdrey

required 24 hour supel vision 3

His report stated that he had rcad the reports of Ms Dellby as well as OT reports of Alnanda

Westbrook and that of the lllsurer Examillation Report ofAllgela Flelning

In cross examination he said he had 11o concems about Ms Porters asscsslnent givell that she

knows Mr Cowdrey quite well and has had significant interactions with lliln

He stated that it was not possible to isolate one aspect of impairlnent and that the person lntlst be

considered as a wholc AI1 of the impainnents and injuries should be taken into context to

understand thc totality of assistance required so that while Mr Cowdrey may be able to walk on

his own because of his apathy he requires the illitiation to walk in the first place

lReport f Dr Unarket fktober 5 201 5 Joint Medical Brief Vtllume l Exhibil 4 Tab l2 page l

3 Report of Dr Unarket October 5 20 I5 Joint Medical Bl ief Vtllume l Exhibit 4 Tab l 2 page l 2

3 Report of Dr Unarket Novemter 6 20 l5 Joint Medical Brief Volume l Exhibit 4 Tab 1 6 Page l and 2
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He expressed concem as to whether Mr Cowdrey would be able to rcact in an emergcncy

situatioll his primary collcern beillg the loss of sellse of slnell ln case of a fire he was

concerncd that Mr Cowdrey might not slnell the sluoke and react appropriately Hc also stated

that Mr Cowdrey sleeps so deeply tllat one could not prcdict whethel he would wake up alld if

he did wake up whether l1e would act appropriately

He also testified that while Mr Cowdrey lnay have given the correct answers as to llow l1e

would react in an emergency therc is no guaralltee as to how he would actuallv react in a real

Iife emergency

Dr Unarket testified that Mr Cowdrey repolled having a low mood and was sad and elnotionals

with a dccrease in initiation drive and interest He also testied that Mr Cowdrey had reported

having difficulties witll melnory multitaskillg attention and concentration He had observcd tllat

Mr Cowdrey had decreasedmotivation and was apathetic He found thcse obscrvationsof

importance because they required Mr Cowdrey to rely on extemal factors to cue his initiatioll of

the task

Dr Ullarket testified that Ml Cowdrey had described a few episodes of incontinence These

episodes were important because they indicated that I1e must have slept so deeply that he slept

through the signals that the brain sends when thc bladder is full Ms Flemings report while

statillg that she had seen nothing in the earlier lnedical reports with respect to Mr Cowdreys

incontinence until just before the hearing did not refer to why this was of ilnportance Her

recommendation with respect to incolltillence was to allot additional time for extra latlndry as

she noted that Mr Cowdrey was capable of doing llis own laundry

I have attributcd significant weight to Dl Unarkets report and testilnolly He had thc

opportunity to spend time on 2 occasions to assess Mr Cowdrey and consult with other

jnelnbers of his tealn I found the factors ol1 wllich 11e based his conclusions as to why

Mr Cowdrey required full tilne attelldant care partictllarly in case of emcrgency to be

persuasive and note that some if not alI of tllese factors were Iacking in the report of

Ms Flelning
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Dr Jordan Cheskes

Dr Clleskes is a practicing vitleoretinal surgeoll and former Clliefof Opthalnologyat the Rouge
Valley Health System

He did not testify at the hearillg but prepared a report dated October 26 20 1 5 after assessillg
M Cowdrey and reviewing the medical dulnents givcn to him and Iisted in his rcport 34r

He reportcd that Mr Cowdrey suffeled a significant loss to Ilis visual system Ieaving Ilim

perlzaancntly colnpletely blind in his left eye in wllicll he wears a prosthesis Dr Chcskes also

found significallt damage to Mr Cowdreys riglzt eye which causes Mr Cowdrey great diffictllty
in looking upward or laterally Dr Chcskes reported that Mr Cowdrey has suffered permanellt

loss of functional peripheral visioll in that eye

Dr Cheskes reported that Mr Cowdreys inability to drive because of his Iimited visioll would

make his prospects of independence lnorc linlited as he would l ely upon public tlansportatiola

for appoilltlnents shopping alld activities of daily Iiving which would be a great cxpense to

Mr Cowdrey and would limit his ability to attend school or seekjob tlaining without incunillg

signifcant expense for tlanspolation costs Dr Cheskes concltlded that M1 Cowdrey suffeled a

profound loss of visioll He has no prospects of regailling his lost vision alld any attempts to

surgically correct his lemaining eyc entails risk of complete lack of vision Mr Cowdrey would

requile close lnonitorillgof his right eye for the lest ofhis life to prevcnt fulher vision Ioss

Dr Cheskes concluded that Mr Cowdreys ability to walk and drive is permanently limited due

to his visioll dif culties and inability to lnove his right cyc latcrally or upwalds I found this

evidellce of perlllanent damage and Ioss of visiolz extrelnely sigllificant as Mr Cowdrey s visttal

ilnpairmelzts will not ilnprovc significantly and will have a perlnanelat ilnpact on his lifc

lReport f Dr Cheskes dated October 26e 201 5 Joint Medical Briet Vlllume l Tab I4A
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Dr Hiten Lad

Dr Hitcn l nd a netlropsycllologist assesscd Mr Cowdrey on April 29 2014 and May 9 2014

Dr Lad was asked to assess Mr Cowdreys pattern of cognitive and psychological functionillg
as well as to assist with his rehabilitatitln efforts and diagllosed Mr Cowdrey with Cognitive
Disorder Not Otherwise Specified and Query Pelsonality Changes Due to Sevele Traulnatic

Brain lnjuly Apathy type Dr Lad did not testify but his rcport dated July 2 l 2014 was

d eferrcd to by Mr Cowdrcys witnesscs 3sentered into evidencc an l

lnformation for tllis rcport calnc from intelvicwingMr Cowdrey and Szylvia Kralnln a review

of availablenledical doculnents as well as the rcsults of both eognitive and psychological

testing The list ofdoculnents reviewed are contained in Dr Lads report

Dr Lad conducted a further asscssluent on Septclnbcr 24 and 25 201 5 and reported that

Mr Cowdrey had incl eased irritability and a reduced mental filter finding tllat hc had now

developed aj1 adjustmellt disorder with deplessed mood over tilne restllting froln illcreasing

flustratioll that his recovery was not progressillg as he had expected 36
He noted that tllese

challges lnay rcsult in some diffictllties in Mr Cowdreys illterpersonal illteractions

Dr Lad concluded that tlze cumulative effect of Mr Cowdreys cognitivc difficulties and

psycllologicaland physical impailnnents have bcen significant in his life and llave reduced his

daily functioning i11 mally areas

Szylvla Kramm

Ms Kramln testied at the hearing on Mr Cowdl eys behalf Slle was a Rcgistered Ntlrse

licellsed in 2003 with over ten yeal s of nursing experience and was elnployed full tjme at

Mount Sinai Hospital as a pediatric tlurse Ms Kraluln and Mr Cowdrcy had forlnel ly been in a

3sNeurtlpsyclltllogical Evaluatilln f Dr Hiten l zld dated July 2 l 2014 Joint Medical Bricf Exhibit 4 Tab 4

tiNeuropsychological Evaluatitln 1f Dr Hiten 1 md dated October l 9 2 I 5 Joinl Medical Brief Exhibit 4

Tab l 3
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relatiollship and had resided togethcr with tlleir son The relationsllip cnded a year prior to the

accident and while their son l emained living with Ms Kramln Ml Cowdrey obtained his own

residence Upon his discharge from hospital after thc accident Mr Cowdrey moved in witll

Ms Kralnm as she was to be his primary caregivel

mlile assisting Mr Cowdrey in order to make tilne to carc for him she workcd longer shifts

and used banked vacation days ilistead of taking paylnellt and had the opportunity to assist and

observe Mr Cowdrey over a significant period of tilne as his prilnary caregivcl She provided
attendalpt care scrvices from the time of his lclease in October 20l 3 up to March 15 2014 when

the Fund stopped paylnents She testified with rcspect to the detail of her duties as a nurse at the

hospital and testified in detail as to her obsel vations of Mr Cowdrey botll in the llolnc and in thc

comlnunity She testificd that slle stoppcd providilzg care in June 2015 altllough accolding to the

Fund she submitted no further expellse sllcets to the Fund after April 3 20 15 37

She testified that while she included housekecpillgscrvices in hcr cxpcnse shcets up to Atgust

31 20 l4 when she was told by Mr Cowdreys lawyer tllat she could not clailn these servkes

she stopped sublnittinghotlsckeepingexpensc shects after September 2014

While continuillg to assist Mr Cowdrey when she could after Junc 2015 she testied that shc

could no lollger afford to continuc to care for him as a prilnal y caregiver without lelntlneration

She shared attendant care duties with Ms Partyka after she was llired

Terry Padyka

Ms Partyka testified that she colnmenccd providillg attendalAt carc services in Jtlly 2014

Shc was a tlained PSW and assisted Mr Cowdrey with cooking cleaning laulldry replacing his

prostllesisand genel ally pel formed alI of the services that a PSW is trained to do to assist in

holne care She spelat significant time both illside the home and otltside il1 the colnmunity alld

had alnple opportunity to obscrvc Mr Cowdrey on a day to day basis

A7Fund Written Sublllissions Page 28 Paragraph 89
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As the Fund had no issue with her qualifications tlle main tllrust of her evidence dealt with

errors she had made in calculating the houls that she had invoiced the Fund for services provided

betweelz June 28 2016 to June 30 2016 and for serviccs on August 9 and l0s 20 l 6 She in fact

did not provide services on any of tlzese 4 days cxplailling that the error in Jtlne occuned

bccause dolncstic violellce issues arose at home bctween her and her partner and as a restllt she

left holnc for five days and stayed with a friend However she llad previotlslydiarized tllesc days
as days she was scheduled to provide servicc and used the entries to prepare her tilne sheets

Her explanation with respect to the August error also involved a domestic issue with her partner

because although she had scheduled Ilerself to work for Mr Cowdrey 011 tllosc days Ocause of

the problems she was experiellcing at home her plans suddellly changed and she did not provide

services on thcse dates She testified that whell she was advised of the mistake in December by

Mr Cowdrcygs lawyers she reviewed her records and realized hcr errol However this elTor was

reported only aftel she was advised that tllere had been surveillance on those days

THE EVIDENCE FOR THE FUND

Angela Fleming

Angela Fleming is a legistered Occtlpatiollal Therapist and conducted an assessment of

Mr Cowdrey Slle prepared a Fonn 1 and Assessment of Attendant Care Needs dated March 30

2015 at the request of the Fund which was sublnitted in cvidence 38

Ms Flelning was the only witness for the Fund Ms Flcmillg had access to thc various medical

reports which had been obtained and listed thosc she relied upon in her report

Hel OT assesslnent of Mr Cowdrey took place 011 two separate occasions March 3 20 l 5 and

Marcll 24 2015 at Mr Cowdrcys holne She testified that shc deterlnined midway tllrough the

Ssee ft otnote 3 sttpra
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asscssmelt that it would be appropriate to adjouna the rest of thc assessmcnt until anotlxer day as

she noted it aprared Mr Cowdrey was tiring and illclelnent weather was approaching

Ms Fleming testified that she spent a total of 7 hours with Mr Cowdrey includillgone hour

walking with him in the colnmunity

She did not have an oppolunity to pel sonally observe his Iyerfol mance o11 his own without

supervision when out in tlle commullity

Ms Fleming opined that Mr Cowdley possesscd sufcient physical alld cognitivc ability to

respond appl opl iately in an clnergency It was hel opinion that aids such as a sllaker bed alarln

and trailling would be sufcient to colnpensate for solne of his deficits

She disagreed with Ms Denbys assellion that Mr Cowdrey lnight not be able to be arotlsed if

necessary in an elnergellcy noting that she had seen no objective evidellce that he could not bc

aroused She believed that Mr Cowdrey was capallle f getting otlt of tlle btlilding on his own

should there be an elnergency as from a pllysical pelapective he could lnove freely and

independelltly in his unit and had the ability to llavigate stairs

However she stated tllat should there be a real fire her main concelnl would be his ability to get

safely to the stairwell where he could thejl wait for assistallcc as he had been advised by the

Fire Marshall that the staircase landing is a safe place of refuge for a pelson who was ullable to

use the stairs

She stated that while there were no referellces with respect to urilaary incontinence in the

lnedical repols provided to her she did ackllowledge in cross examinatioll that patients with

traumatic brain in juries often unden eported theil situatioll to assessors

She did note that Dr Unarket colnmented Mr Cowdreys tlrinary ilzcontinencc in his 20I 5

repoll as did Ms Porter in her 2015 leport both of whicll wcrc issued shortly befole the llearing
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Dr Unarket had also testified tllat Mr Cowdrey would not awaken despite urillatillg llilnself and

concluded that tllis was an illdication that Mr Cowdrey was a deep sleepel

Ms Fleming testified that Mr Cowdrey did llot show signs often exhibited by visually ilnpaired

people He did not use a whitc calle or put out his hands when walking and he was not

concerned with staying on level gl ound Based on her own observations she stated tlxat l1e was

able to walk in the colnmunity and that what she saw was someone who could llavigate around

obstaclcs and was able to handle outings in the comlnunity She disagreed with Ms Porters

concerns with rcgard to Mr Cowdreys illability to scan and evaluate his surroundings

Ol1 cross exalnination Ms Fleming agreed that treating healthcale plofessionals get a more

colnplete view of a persons tlale levcl of function than an assessor who only sees a person for a

few llours and this should be collsidcrcd when forming opinions

She also agreed that the assessor must considcr collateral informatioll particularly in cases of

bl ain in juries where patients oftell either over leport or under report This wotlld include

evidence from others and Ms Fleming agreed that this is ilnportant because this information

comes from people who spelld lnore time with Mr Cowdrey

Analysis

Mr Cowdrcys experts tlpined that he requires 24 hour attendant care prilnarily at nigllt in the

case of an emergency

The effect of his cumulative impairments includillg his perlnanent loss of eyesigllt his balallcc

issues and loss of his sellses of smell and taste have resultcd in Mr Cowdreys experts to opine

that in case of an elnergency hc might not respond appropriately

The Ftlnds only witltess OT Angcla Flelning opincd that he did not lequire 24 hour attendant

C2rC
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Her total tilne spent with Mr Cowdrey was scven Ilours over two days Tlle assesslnelltwas

adjourned on the first day because of approachil4g inclennent weather and Mr Cowdrey

appeared to be tiring She decided to finish the assessmcnt on a second day about two wceks

Iater Although she spent al1 hour with him walking in thc colnlnunity she never had a challcc to

observe him in the community witllout sulvrvision as shc was witll hiln thc whole time

1 found it significant that her assesslnent was divided into two sessions on diffelrnt days Had the

assessmellt been complcted i11 one session his perforlnance may wcll havc declillcd and yielded

a more realistic picture of his abilities In my view the assessment was flawed by this

intelmuption and cast doubt on the acctlracy of the assesslnent

ln her opinioll cueillg and aids stlch as a shaker bed were sufficielzt to ensurc safcty in casc of

an emergellcy

Mile I acknowledge that Ms Flemillg was an expericnced OT shc spent a Iilnited alnount of

time with Mr Cowdrey ln contrast Mr Cowdreys ttteam had spcnt many hours in observing

Mr Cowdrey fullction in and out of the colnmunity Ms Flelnings assessment and observations

wcre in a controlled ellvironment and she only spent a fcw hours with Mr Cowdrey She llever

had an opportunity to otAserve Mr Cowdl ey going about his busilaess in tlle comluunity without

supervisioll becatlse of llle lilnited tilne she spellt with him

She had at one point testified that CNIB lnight be collsidered to take over Mr Cowdreys casc

management apparelxtly unaware that CNIB had already scell him and advised that they could

not do so becatlse of his lnultiplc ilmpairlnents which were not visiolp related

ln my vicw Ms Flelning did not fully take into account Mr Cowdreys cognitive ilnpailments

and elnotional difficulties with respect to apathy and inability to initiate action without cueing o1

other assistallce Her testimony and reports focussed primarily on her obsel vatiolls on

Mr Cowdleys physical abilities when asked to do a task
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Mile it was suggcsted by Mr Cowdrey tllat Ms Flenning was a biased and difficult witness and

ided authority3g wlzere a silnilal filzding was madc 1 did not find tllat her evidence was
prov

biased She was no different froln any witlless il a case wllere the opiniolls of the assessors

clashed Wllile I found that she was solnewhat guardcd in hcr answel s I found hcr evidence to

be credible overall but lilnited in its scope 1 place no wcight on the Graves decisioll

1 prcfer the testimolly and opiniolls of Mr Cowdrey s experts Courtlley Porter and Dr Unarket

over that of Ms Flcming wllcre they differ witll respect to the quantum of attelzdant care

Mr Cowdrey rcquires Mr Cowdreys expelts had the opportunity to observe him in different

situations and or could rely on the repolls of his caregivel s Ms Denby for exaluple had wcekly

reports from Peter Glazcr who saw lliln on a weekly basis and leported regularly to her

Howcver 1 found Ms Flemillgs suggcstion as to what Mr Cowdrey shotlld do when alone and

without an attendallt in case of an acttlal fire particularlydisturbillg

It was her opinion that Mr Cowdl ey either on his own or with his 3 year o1d son in tow had the

ability to sucssfully lnake his way to a stairwell if a fil e broke out and then stand tlaere

waiting and hoping to be rescucd I find this difficult to accept While he might vcry well be

physicallyable to take tllese steps although that is doubtful thc risk of his inability to initiate

and take appropriatc action on his own in a leal clnergency is in my view too high to leave to

chance His leaction to real dallger to hilnself and especially his soll in tlle cvent of a real

emergcllcy silnply cannot be anticipated with any degree of certainty

Grnnted the use of a shaker bed and any othel cueing or mobility aids might lninilnize the risk

but collsidcring the extent of Mr Cowdreys lilnitations l cannot acccpt this as a lealistic

suggestion cven though she stated tllat tllis was in accord with dil ectives froln the Fire Marsllall

More spccifically and in sumlnary I prefer the evidence of Mr Cowdrey s experts pal ticularly

that of Ms Pol ter ovcr the evidence of Ms Flelning whel e it differs for the followilzg rcasons

vGrave ull Royal JIJ vl l Alliutwe p lwffrtl lte Cz qf Caltada FSCO A l 2 K 69 l 6 Marcll 26 2 l 5
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Ms Flemings time and experiellce with Mr Cowdrcy was vely Iimitcd haviypg spellt only
seven houls ij total over two days Mr Cowdreys witllesses especially Ms Portcr

Ms Denby and his caregivers all had the opportttnity to obselwe him vel Iong periods of

time and Ms Kramln was able to colnluellt on llis pre accidelxt abilities and colnnlent on

how his ljmitations had changed his life post accident I found their observations and insights

particularly helpful in providing a realistic picture of his ful3ctioning while Ms Fleluings

observations and comments werc basically a sllapshot of a lnolnent in time

2 The evidellcc from Mr Cowdreys witnesses was ctllnprehensive alld took into account

multiple obsel vations and colzsultations with various sources over a long period of time

while Ms Flemings opportullities in that regald were Iilnited

l found Ms Flemings mcthodology was suspect with respect to hcr decisioll to split her

assesslnent into two sessions on different days The fact that Mr Cowdrey appeared to be

tiring could indicate that has the assessmellt colltinued his lcvel of fullctioning may have

deteriorated Starting fresh on a diffel ent day may not llave acculately reflected the level of

Mr Cowdrcys functiolling

4 Her opinions werc primarily based on MI Cowdreys physical lilnitatiolls alld as sucll she

gave little or no consideration with lespect to D1 Unarkets telnarks rcgarding the elnotional

effects of the brain in iury or Dr Lads statelnents with l egard to the effect of Mr Cowdreys

apathy on his functiolling She did llot adeqtlately take into account how his eluotional alld

cognitive impairments colltributed to his fulActional val iability wlzich would lnake it difficult

and speculative to predict his levcl of fullction at a point in time bccatlse of his cllanging

emotional state

5 She relied tlpon Mr Cowdrey to acculately report lzis fullctional abilities although the

Applicantfs cognitive and emotional impaillnents includillg lack of insight made hiln an

ullreliable source of illformation Sllc agreed with the stlggestion that patielats with tl atlmatic

brain in juries often underreported theil situation to assessors
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6 Hcr observations of Mr Cowdrcy in tlle community were lilnited and she did not have thc

benefit of observing Ilim functiol in and out of the holne over a period of timc in real life

situations ln my view she did not give adcquate weight to the obscrvations and conclusiolls

of those who had regular or daily colltact with him and did not stlfficiently address the fact

that he may have undcrreported at tilnes

Ms Fleming accepted based upon tlle Mr Cowdreys oral responses to questiolzs about

hypothetical elnergency sittlations that I1e would acttlally and leliably rcspond appropriately

in a real elnergency situatioll

8 Despite a1l of the otlzer available reports and assessments illcluding but not lilnited to those

of Katie Dcnby Coulney Pol ter Case Manager and Dr Unarket a11 of wholn have opilxd

that 24 hour care is needed to ensure Mr Cowdreys safety and despite Iler Iilnited tilne

spent with him under circtlmstallccs which in lny view did not realistically retlect his

functioning in the community or when left alone Ms Fleming collcluded nonetlleless that

cight hours ofbasic daytime supervision ctlstodial care would be lcasollablc as a rcsult of

changes in the Applicants behaviourand abilities due to his ilnpairmellts

I have assigned substantial weight to tlle testinlojly of Ms Kramln She knew llim for a long

period prior to his accidelAt and was in thc best position to rcmark on how his abilities and

pel sonality had changed post accident

Ms Palykas evidence according to the Fund was suspcct and not credible She invoiced for

days on whicll she did not provide service only reporting tlle error after she was made aware that

that there had been surveillance on those days and the Fund submitted it would be an ilacrediblc

coincidellce if the only days she misreported were the days when sulweillance was perforlned

Tlle Fund stlbmitted that Ms Partykas l equest for 12 590 00 whicll was the balance lequested

for her services to the cnd of Octobcr 20 l 5 after subtracting thc alnount invoiced for thc lnissing

days in her original invoice sllould not be paid at a11
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However I found her explanation for the errors to bc rcasonablc and the Fund did llot challenge
her explanation on cross exalnillation in an effolt to shakc ller credibility

1 found no lnajor cledibility issucs with the evidellce of Ms Kramln and Ms Partyka

CONCLUSION

The Fund stlblnitted that Ms Pal tykas request for 12 590 00 which was the balance requested
for her services to the end of October 2015 after subtractillg the amount ilzvoiced for thc

missing days in her original illvoice sllotlld not be paid at all As 1 havc found her explanatiola to

be credible 1 find that 12 590 00 is owing to hcr services to the end of October 2015

Ms Kralnm was unpaid for any sel vices she providcd after Marcll l 4 20l 4 as I have fotlnd that

she is eligiblc for paylnentas a profcssional service provider Because the invoices she sublnitted

lacked detail and incltlded ineligible housekeeping expellses the Fund sublnitted that a

deductioll of 25 should be deducted froln the 54 7 17 00 requcsted for the Nriod of March 15

20 14 to Jtlne 2015 As the exact ratio of hotlsekeeping to attelldant care services could not bc

calculated from the illvoices sublnitted I find this to bc leasonable Afler deductillg 25 of

54 0 I find that 4 l 025 00 is the balance owillg to Ms Kramm for tllat period

Mr Cowdrey has requested an ollgoing order for 6 000 00 monthly while the Ftlnd has asked

me to award any attendant carc owing and ongoing based ol1 869 l 6 the alnount Ms Fleming

calculated in hel Form 1 on an incurred services basis

For the leasons givcn I prefer the evidence and opiniolls of Mr Cowdrey s assessors over tllat

of Ms Fleming and find that for reasolls given 1 accept that Mr Cowdrey requires ongoing 24

hour attelldant care I give little weight to Ms Fleming s Forln l l find that ongoing attelldant

care paynlents for incuned selwices sllould bc 6 000 00 luontlzly based on the assessmcnts of

Ms Denby and Ms Porter both of which wcre well i11 cxcess of the lnaximum allowed by tlze

Sdledltlc Proofof the alnount of incurred attelldant cale sel vices must therefore be submittcd o11

a monthly basis
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EXPENSES

Because expellse decisioyls are now to be illcluded in the arbitration decision the parties llave

sublzlitted their written sublnissions fol expellscs prior to knowillg the outconle lt is therefore

difficult for the parties to make sublnissions on tlle degree of stlccess which is one of the critel ia

set out in subscction 12 2 of Ontario Regulatioll 664 the Expellse Regulation and which l am

required to consider in making my decisioll However having decided lnainly in the Applicallts

favour I have decided to award expenses to the Applicallt The issuc is thcrefore quantuln

There were illitiallyadditiollal claims set out at the pre hcaring most ofwhicll the parties

resolved witllin the month prior to the hearillg resultillg in a shorter hearing

Mr Cowdreys claims for medical benefits were withdrawn on the moming of the hearing wlzile

the claims for caregiver benefits were abandolled about a week prior to the hearing and tlle

claim for a special award was withdlawn shortly beforc the hearillg comnxenccd This leduced

the clailns in the arbitratioll to attendallt care and cxpenscs

As the Fund had accepted tllat Mr Cowdrey was catastroplzically ilnpaired on a provisiollal

basis on March 24 2015 and perlnanently as of October 2014 this issue was llot argued at the

arbitration

Factors to be considered in awarding expenses

XlYllrzllce CfX lJM1 lA f C l f
t1Arbitrator Nastasi in Salva zlzl Paranllatztllan tkll Allstatc

wrote that

The oven iding colasideration in fixing arbitration expellses is rcasonablelzess

Rathcr tllan a line by line review of expenses claimed arbitratols have prefel red a

global assessment of expellses as Oing more appropl iate

4 17SCO A05 002958 and A 6 nxX 4 July 30 2 x 7
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ln Ragulan and Securlty Nationcl z rc t r Ctl Molllex J l l rzel ce Mallagement lc the

gcncral approach with respect to fees was t take a upragmatic broad strokes approach witll a

i to fixing an alnount that is reasonable dlV CW

Rule 78 1 of the Code provides tllat the maximuln amount tllat Inay be awarded for legal fccs is

an amoullt calculated using the hourly rates established under the 1 egal Aid Services Act 1998

btlt perlnits an adjudicator where satisfied that a higller amount for Iegal fees to an insured

person is Justified to award an hourly rate up to 1 50 1

Pursuant to subsection 1242 of Ontario Regulation 664 the Expelue w J a an arbitlator

shall consider only tlle following criteria for the pumoses of awarding all or part of the expenses

incurred in lespect of an arbitration proceeding

a each partys degree of success in the otltcolne of the proceeding

b any written offers to settle made in accordallce with subsection 3

c whether novcl issues are raised i11 the proceedillg

d the conduct of a party or partys repl esentative that tcnded to prolong obstruct or

hinder the prtxeeding including a failure to coluply with ulldelakings and orders

e wllether any aspect of the proceeding was ilnproper vexatious or unnecessaly and

0 thc applicallts failul e to attend examillations and

g whetllcl the insured person reftlsed or failcd to submit to an examillation or provide
nlaterial as l equired under section 44 of the St hedltle

Of these critel ia the only leal sulnstantive issue remainillg to decide besidc expenses was thc

claim for attclldant care Of the factors to consider in this cases I do not considel any of the

factol s other than degree of success of the parties to be applicable and I takc into accoullt that

that the parties had to luake their sublnissiolls blilldly ol1 this point witllotlt knowing tlle

IIl7SCO A05 X 294 July I 6 2 8 See alsfl Hellt i lz All tatc pl l lw lce Conllxln b cfWlaf tz OIC

A 7954 August 8 l 997 and lW atld ptzzz Cantzda lf FSCO Af 8 0 l 7 p March l 5 2 l 0
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outcome

ANALYSIS

ln its subluissioll the Ftlnd suggcsts the rclevant criteria for considel ation in this mattel are

whether novel issues are raised in the proceeding offers to setlle and whethel any aspect of the

proceedillg was ullnecessary

Thc Fund further sublnitted that the Applicant failed to providc its witness Iists 90 days prior to

the hearing in accordance with an ujldertaking givell at the pre llearillg Instcad the lists were

provided 31 days prior suggesting that this added to the preparatioll time rcquired for tllis

hearing and I take this into consideration to the hearing in my decision but I do not nd this to

be of pallicular import The Fund ultijnatelycolnplied with the Rules alld this resulted il1 Iittle or

no prejudice

The Applicant has stlblnitted that in this case the applicable criteria are

Degree of success

Written Rule 76 offers

Conduct of a party or partys represelltative that tended to prolong obstnlct or hillder the

proceeding including a failure to comply with undertakings and ordel s

1 note tllat the Applicant did not sublnit a bill of costs with its written sublnissiolls but only put

forward the total account without a detailed breakdowlz of the hours spcnd by each individual at

their rcspective l ates

nere was no indication as to what portion of the fees clailned were for disbtlrsemcnts llor was

there a breakdown of the disbulselnents
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l have also considered the non acceptance by the Funds of thc Applicantsf Rule 76 offer dated

Novelnber 13 2015 That offer was substalltiallydifferent frolzl the actual outcolnc i11 that it

included caregiver payments and medical paylnents which were tlltilnately withdlawn or

abandolAed and requested an ongoing paylnentof 6 000 f9 per month regaldless of whether

incurred or not Even if the Applicalat was colnplctcly successful on thc relnaining issues at the

arbitratioll had it accepted this offer it would have requil ed the Fund to pay a substantially

greater amoullt than wllat was ultimately ordered and is tllerefore of little import

With respect to whether novel issues wele laised the Fund has suggested that the issue of

whcther Ms Kramm lnet the s 3 7 e iii A incul red cl iteria may bc scen as a novel issue Tlzis

issue was complicated and took tilne to argue and explain but I do not consider it to be a novel

argument having seen this argument in othel cases where a similar argumellt has been madc

post alnelldment

The Fund was successful on tllis argument and as I have decided that the alnendlnents apply

this will reduce the Funds liability for a paymcnt of 6 000 00 per month to that of cxpcnscs

incurred for attelldant care up to 6 000 00 pel month

Although this lcngtllcncd the hearing solnewhat it was an essential part of the hearing and

restllted in some degree of success for the Fund and thereforc I did not considel it relevallt to

either consideratioll d whether either palies conduct prolonged the healing or e whether

any aspect of the proceeding was improper vexatiotls or tlnnccessary 1 had no issue with the

conduct of eitllcr party mld found nothing that tlnllecessarily prolollged the hearing

lssues 0 and g regarding attendance at examillations were not relevallt collsiderations in this

CaSe

Of tllese criteria 1 consider the degl ee of success to bc the most impol tant criterion in decidillg

the issue of expenses in this case
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While the Applicalzt was for the most part successful with respect to tlxe outcolnc tlze Fund

achieved a lilnited degree of stlccess with respect to its argument rcgarding s 3 7 e iii in

limiting its liability solnewhat While tlle Fulpd llas asked for its expenses to be paid as l have

found the Applicant to bc plimarily successful l am awarding the expenses to the Applicant

Howevel in deciding the quantum 1 take into account the partial success of the Fund in deciding

the quantum that the Applicant is awarded

The general apploach with respect to fees is to takc a praglnatic broad strokes approacll with a

iew to fixing an amount that is reasol1able 42 This ilwludcs taking into account the Iength of theV

proceeding and the complexity of the issues alld frequently illvolves applyillg a ratio of pre

h ing prepalution tilne to hearing tilne in the range of l l to 4 l 43ear

Fees

The Applicant has requcsted n order for fees and disburselnelzts including increased hourly

rates and full disburselnellts in the amoullt of 88 621 00 which includes fees for Joseph

Calnpisi Jr and Ryan Breedan lawyel s eacl witll ve1 10 years of cxpcricllce and Jenna Zorik

a licensed paralegal

However there is nothing in the Applicallts sublnissioll bl eaking dowll the colxtributions of each

and houls involved nor is there a breakdown of disbursenaents

l find the claim for expenses excessive rclativc to the issucs in dispute The heal ing itself took 5

days Decelnber 7 8 9 and l 0 20 l 5 with written sublnissitlns to follow The Ftlnd has

submitted that the llearing was not so colnplex as to require two coullsel and a palalegal

As there is no evidellce before n1e of eitller the breakdown of fees and disbul sclnents of any of

the lepresentatives I am only prepared to award costs for onc lawyel

dtRagtdt zz lz Securitb Nzl lW ltz Iltsurallce Co MonJte ll w lce Mallagelnellt lc FSCO A05 2940

July I 6 2 08 See also Hetlri zl l All btate nf rzz lce Cz l 7tz y of Czllt1 t7 OIC A 07954 August 8 l 997

Afor example Soobrian Ja Belair ll zfrzgare Coltlptnkv t FSCO A 4 X 422 February 7 2 16
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I find a ratio of 3 1 of preparatory to hearillg time is appropl iatc ij1 this case

Given that the average hearing day lasted 8 hours I find that a reasonable ntlmber of total hours

for this case would be 120 l am also prepared to increase the fees to 150 00 for the Applicallts

coulzsel taking into account the over 10 years of experience of counsel and awarding the

Applicant an additiollal 10 hours of preparatioll for its post hearillg written sublnissions and

written expense submissions for an additiollal 1 500 00 01 a total of 19 500 00

Because the Fund was partially successful with respect to an ilnpol tant issue l am taking this

into account and reducillg the Applicants fee by 4 500 to reflect tllis This is apploximately

a 25 rcduction I therefore fix the fees for counsel at 1 5 XX 0 plus HST

Disbursements

Mr Cowdley claims disbursements in an ullspecificd amount as part f the total figure put

forward in the ordcr requested

With respect to experts the lnaximum amounts tllat may be clailned undel the Expetse

Ael 7 itp 7 are 1 500 00 for preparatioll of a repolt 200 00 per lzour for attendallce at a

hearing tlp to l 600 00 per day and 500 00 for pleparation for a hearing at whicll thc expert

actually testifies

The Applicant called two experts Dr Unarket and Cotll tney Porter OT

Dr Unarket attended the Ilearing and testified l am awarding 4 houls for his attendance at

2 00 pcr hour and l 500 00 for preparation of his report and 5 00 for preparatioll at a

llearing in accordancc with the Expcnse Regulation for a total of 2 8 00 plus applicable

HST

Courtncy Porter also testified and preparcd a report and Form l which was also cntered as an

exhibit 1 also award Ms Porter the salne alnounts as Dr Unarket for a total of 2 800 00 plus

applicable HST
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Financial Services
Commission
of Ontario

Commission des
services financiers
de lOntario

Ontario

FSCO A14 002444

BETWEEN

ANTHONY COWDREY

Applicant

and

MOTOR VEHICLE ACCIDENT CLAIMS FUND

Insurer

ARBITRATION ORDER

Under section 282 of the Insurtce Ac R S O 1990 c 1 8 as it read ilnnlediately befol e being

amendcd by Schedule 3 to the Fightilg Fraud 1 Reduclblg Autol3lobilc f 1 rJ tz Rates Ac

20 l4 and Ojltario Regultatit 664 as alnended it is ordered that

The Motor Vehicle Accident Claims Fund shall pay to up to 6 000 00 per lnonth togetller

with accnled intelest to or on bellalf of Mr Cowdrey for incurred attelldant care scrviccs to

or on behalf of Mr Cowdrey provided from September 15 2015 to the date of tllis order

2 The Motor Vellicle Accidellt Claims Fund shall also pay to up to 6 000 00 per montll for

incul red attendallt care to or o11 behalf of Mr Ctlwdrey froln the date of this Order onwards

3 Szylvia Kramm is entitled to paylnent and the Motor Velaicle Accidellt Claims Fund sllall

pay the sum of 41 025 50 and intercst for illcuned attendant care services pl ovided to

Mr Cowdrey between March 15 20 14 and June 2015
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FSCO A14 002444

Terri Partyka is entitled to paylment and the Motol Vehicle Accidellt Claims Fund shall pay

the sum of 13 797 00 and ilnterest for attelldant care services provided to Mr Cowdrey
between April 2015 and Septelzlber 20 15

5 Service providers who providc attendallt care services to Mr Cowdrey froln tlle date of this

Order going forward must subluit proof tllat the paylzlent requested is for services incurred

6 The Fund shall pay 25 800 plus HST fol fccs and disburselnellts to thc Applicallt

z
r I

A

Alan Mervin

Arbltrator

May 1 2017

Date


